

# Eastern Illinois University The Keep

# Masters Theses

Student Theses & Publications

1994

# The Relationship Between Involvement in Extracurricular Activities and Academic Achievement of Students at Flora High School

Linda J. Spicer

This research is a product of the graduate program in Educational Administration at Eastern Illinois University. Find out more about the program.

## **Recommended** Citation

Spicer, Linda J., "The Relationship Between Involvement in Extracurricular Activities and Academic Achievement of Students at Flora High School" (1994). *Masters Theses*. 2042. https://thekeep.eiu.edu/theses/2042

This is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Theses & Publications at The Keep. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of The Keep. For more information, please contact tabruns@eiu.edu.

THESIS REPRODUCTION CERTIFICATE

TO: Graduate Degree Candidates (who have written formal theses)

SUBJECT: Permission to Reproduce Theses

The University Library is receiving a number of requests from other institutions asking permission to reproduce dissertations for inclusion in their library holdings. Although no copyright laws are involved, we feel that professional courtesy demands that permission be obtained from the author before we allow theses to be copied.

PLEASE SIGN ONE OF THE FOLLOWING STATEMENTS:

Booth Library of Eastern Illinois University has my permission to lend my thesis to a reputable college or university for the purpose of copying it for inclusion in that institution's library or research holdings.

<u>3-6-95</u> Date

I respectfully request Booth Library of Eastern Illinois University <u>not</u> allow my thesis to be reproduced because:

Author

Date

The Relationship Between Involvement in Extracurricular Activities

and Academic Achievement of Students at Flora High School (TITLE)

ΒY

Linda J. Spicer

# THESIS

# SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

Specialist

IN THE GRADUATE SCHOOL, EASTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY CHARLESTON, ILLINOIS

> 1994 YEAR

I HEREBY RECOMMEND THIS THESIS BE ACCEPTED AS FULFILLING THIS PART OF THE GRADUATE DEGREE CITED ABOVE

12/1/94 DATE

12-1-94 DATE

(

The Relationship Between Involvement in Extracurricular Activities and Academic Achievement of Students at Flora High School Linda J. Spicer Eastern Illinois University

1994

Running Head: EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

#### Abstract

The purpose of this field study was to determine the effect of participation in extracurricular activities upon academic achievement. Senior students at Flora High School were asked to respond to several survey questions that provided information concerning their participation or lack of participation in extracurricular activities. In addition, they expressed opinions related to their own personal involvement in extracurricular activities. The cumulative grade point averages of participants and nonparticipants were also reported.

The results indicated that the respondents of the Class of 1994 of Flora High School strongly felt that participation in extracurricular activities had an effect upon academic achievement. The cumulative grade point averages statistically supported their beliefs.

The final recommendations of this study supported the need for continued review of the effects of extracurricular participation at Flora High School. The potential value of current extracurricular programs to future students demands a systematic, ongoing evaluation by the Flora High School Board of Education and administration.

# Table of Contents

Chapter I: Overview of Study
Introduction
Statement of the Problem
Operational Definitions
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations
Uniqueness of Study
Chapter II: Related Literature and Research
Review of Literature and Research
Summary
Chapter III: Design of the Study
Research Questions
Sample and Population
Criterion Measure
Data Collection
Data Analysis
Chapter IV: Results
Introduction
Results
Chapter V: Summary and Recommendations
Summary
Recommendations
References
Appendix

# List of Tables

Table 1 Examples of Extracurricular Activities and Benefits	18
Table 2 Types of Benefits Derived from Participation	20
Table 3 Reasons for Nonparticipation in Extracurricular Activities	21
Table 4   Statistical Results of Respondents	22

#### Chapter I

# Overview of Study

# Introduction

Many school districts in Illinois have strived to establish goals to develop a comprehensive program that allows opportunity for maximum development of intellectual, physical and social capacities. As used here, comprehensive means inclusive of several components. Extracurricular activities are implemented to offer students comprehensive educational experiences. While programs like the Illinois Public School Accreditation Process stress evaluation of curriculum areas and related outcomes, extracurricular activities are often not evaluated as is the case with the current Illinois Public School Accreditation Process.

Students are infrequently involved in evaluating the impact of extracurricular activities. They generally have little opportunity to express their opinions in a systematic manner. This has been the case at Flora High School where no formal evaluation process has been established.

In this field experience, a small high school in Flora, Illinois was considered. In this area of rural Illinois, extracurricular activities merit much attention because they are often the focus of social life of both students and adults. In this setting, some coaching assignments and sponsor selections are based on availability of personnel, while some assignments face the same scrutiny as an administrative selection. While the

revelation of the field study was limited to a specific school, the analyzed results can be evaluated by the district to consider the continued existence of the availability of extracurricular activities. This district can professionally consider if there is a relationship between extracurricular involvement and academic success. If extracurricular activities are found to compliment the total program, then emphasis should be placed on the importance of the selection of extracurricular activities and their leaders.

#### Statement of the Problem

The purpose of this study was to determine the relationship between involvement in extracurricular activities and academic achievement based on the perception of senior students at Flora High School. This study sought student input as to whether participation helped or hindered academic learning. A clearer understanding of the life-long effects of extracurricular activities was sought as a source of information to substantiate benefits derived from current programs used to supplement the core curriculum.

## Operational Definitions

Extracurricular activities included those student activities provided by the school. These activities were both athletic and co-curricular activities. Co-curricular activities included those that complemented and coordinated with an academic area, such as Spanish Club, Business Club, and Future Farmers of America. Athletic activities involved both interschool and intraschool competitions.

Academic achievement included a comparison of cumulative grade point averages of participants and nonparticipants. Cumulative grade point average referred to the final cumulative grade point average calculated at the end of the senior year.

#### Assumptions

The researcher assumed that high school seniors were capable of making judgments concerning the benefits of participation in extracurricular activities. The assumption was also made that students were able to express their beliefs in written responses.

#### Limitations

The major limitation of this study was that only one high school was involved. Inferences resulting from this study would only be relevant to similar high schools of similar size in rural areas. In addition, only opinions and statistics of seniors were utilized in this analysis. This field experience did not address the many personal variables of each student, such as aptitude, parental encouragement, and social opportunities.

## Delimitations

For this study, only a portion of the seniors of one high

school were randomly selected to provide information. Money and time prohibited the involvement of other schools. Administrative decisions limited the number of participants within the one school by allowing only two classes of students to participate. Only students' perceptions were considered although many personal factors influenced the interests and beliefs of the students themselves.

#### Uniqueness of Study

A study of this type has not been done within this district or school. In this field experience, students were asked to express beliefs and respond freely on a questionnaire. The results and analysis of this study were presented to the Board of Education by the researcher.

#### Chapter II

#### Related Literature and Research

#### Review of Literature and Research

The study of extracurricular involvement is not a new field of study, especially in the athletic realm. While many studies and articles have devoted much time to the debate concerning the support or hindrance provided by the availability of such activities, there is still much to understand. The complexity of so many dependent variables and the bias of the researcher can easily influence the interpretation of results.

After reviewing many studies and articles, the contrasting results provide substance for differing opinions. The studies and data have evolved over a period of many years adding another dimension. As times change, expectations, interpretations, and relevance of programs have also changed making it more difficult to evaluate studies and results.

In a study of female adolescents, Simeroth (1987) mentioned that self-selection into extracurricular activities suggests that those students who possess higher academic aspirations simply elect to participate. Through personality inventories, Simeroth also stressed the complexity of the various factors which have inhibited clearly defined research.

According to Steinberg (1988), studies have reported that participation in extracurricular activities is more likely to

enhance than interfere with high school students' academic achievement. However, that author echoed the belief that once background characteristics that differentiate participants from nonparticipants were taken into account, the influence of extracurricular activities was modest. Surprisingly, Steinberg revealed the effects of participation appear to have the greatest impact among students with the least promising backgrounds for academic success. In a study concerning dropouts, Quinn (1991) stated that those students found to be in danger of dropping out of school were in great need of school activities that bore relevance to their lives. Those who graduated tended to be involved in school activities and to feel a greater sense of attachment and commitment to school. This correlation suggests a link between extracurricular participation and academic performance.

Feltz and Weiss (1984) found that students who participated the most in extracurricular activities were better able to manage their time and achieve higher levels of performance in several different roles simultaneously. They concluded that participation was more supportive than detrimental. Hanks and Eckland (1976) explained that even employers and selective colleges regarded participation in extracurricular activities as evidence of social adjustment.

More recently, McCarthy (1994) worked with the Colorado High School Activities Association during the Spring of 1992 and found that participants from primarily athletics and music had

significantly higher grade-point averages and a significantly lower number of days absent from school than did nonparticipants in all but the smallest schools. That author indicated that these results did not seem to be affected by socioeconomic, ethnic, gender, or at-risk factors. McCarthy's interpretation of the study was that participants benefit by learning to work with themselves in order to achieve and this lesson affects other areas of achievement.

Many high school mission statements now include goals that encompass the total development of an adolescent. This idea was reinforced by McNamara (1985), who reported that the formal curriculum alone cannot address necessary basic development needs such as responsibility, communication, and belonging. The provision of extracurricular activities was found to enhance the core curriculum by allowing adolescents to develop mature relationships, strengthen self-esteem, and acquire leadership skills. Eldsmore (1964) found a positive relationship between participation in activities and academic achievement. In addition, participants acquired socialization skills and improved race relations. Reun (1992) supported this belief by stating that the public wants us to produce people who have good report card averages, but they also want graduates with people skills and an ability to accept responsibility and follow directions. These skills are cultivated through student activity participation. He points to many successes financially, in fame, in awareness, and in self-esteem that have developed from participation in extracurricular activities.

9

Hong Kong secondary students participated in a survey by Fung and Wong (1991) that provided 294 responses. Their survey concluded that activity involvement was positively related to academic performance. Camp (1990) considered many variables that could impact both level of student activities and grade point averages. He too found that participation in student activities has a positive relationship to grades. In fact, he stressed the need to quickly expand research to determine if students who are faced with withdrawal of "privileges" in many schools are actually motivated to improve or to restore "privileges" or if it is actually damaging to improvement of student achievement.

Using data beyond high school, Marsh (1992) asked students whether or not they had chosen a variety of activities. He found that participation in too many activities produced diminishing returns. He did find that benefits of participation differed substantially depending on particular activities. Participation in sports, honor societies, student government, school publications, and school subject-matter clubs were proven consistently beneficial.

In contrast, Coleman (1961) argued that emphasis on extracurricular activities in high school promoted behavior that was contrary to the society's purpose of school as needed for the transmission of knowledge. Another critic, Mendez (1984) later argued that the place of extracurricular activities as a part of the public secondary school program has been taken too far.

Stevenson (1975) expressed the need for students to participate in school activities indicating that these activities were necessary to prepare adolescents for a more leisure world, due to a shortened work week. In essence, Stevenson saw extracurricular activities as preparation for adult social life. In a more recent study, Griffin (1988) identified specific benefits of extracurricular activities for student progress and reaffirmed the apparent permanent role of extracurricular activities in schools. Banner (1992) echoed this belief by stating that two schools are necessary in today's society, the academic school of arts and sciences and the afterhours school that provides sports and activities.

Reports from Steinberg (1988) noted a possible demon of extracurricular participation. He felt that compelling demands from nonacademic activities depressed academic performances. These demands were often time-consuming and did not relate to academic responsibilities. He concluded that these activities decreased the quality and quantity of study time and lessened academic excellence. Tomlinson (1992) reported that many Americans now score lower because they study less as they spend time on nonacademic activities.

As previously mentioned, the research on athletic participation in extracurricular activities has been extensive. Eldsmore (1964) found a positive association between academic performance and athletic participation. In a study conducted in 24 Iowa schools, that author found varsity football participants to have a higher

grade point average than nonparticipatory classmates. However, as in most studies, the results were not controlled for other intervening variables. In a similar study, Schafer and Armer (1968) compared grade point averages of athletes and nonathletes while controlling intervening variables. They, too, found a small positive relationship between athletic participation and academic performance.

Research conducted by Stoltz (1986) statistically revealed that athletes' grade point averages were significantly higher than nonparticipating students. In addition, fewer athletes received a failing grade during times when actively competing. However, the data again presented other areas to be examined. Athletes could have used time more efficiently during competition. Perhaps motivation for eligibility was particularly strong. While these findings were consistent with previous findings, many facets remain to be explored.

In contrast, Schumaker, et al (1986) found athletes' grade point averages to be insignificantly higher than nonathletes, although the athletic group did score higher on a measure of selfconcept. In previous studies, Lueptow and Kayser (1973-74) and Hauser and Lueptow (1978) found no greater increase over time in high school grades among athletes than nonathletes. They concluded that group differences in grade point averages that others had observed were probably a function of pre-existing differences

between athletes and nonathletes, rather than factors associated directly with participation in high school sports.

#### Summary

The literature has revealed the difficulty in assessing the many immeasurable influences that control academic achievement. The researcher has found that considering only the domain of extracurricular activities, as it is linked to academic achievement, limits our understanding on the effects of participation. In addition, behavior and performances are clearly affected by many external factors. Awareness of these factors adds complexity to the interpretation of many existing studies. Although the overall research has been somewhat inconclusive, the topic still deserves attention and further consideration locally and nationally.

#### Chapter III

#### Design of the Study

#### Research Questions

The research questions addressed in this study were as follows:

1. What percentage of respondents participated in at least one extracurricular activity while in high school?

2. What percent of the students surveyed felt that extracurricular activities helped or hindered their academic achievement?

3. For those respondents who felt that involvement in extracurricular activities helped their academic achievement, what examples did they list to support their beliefs?

4. For those respondents who felt that participation in extracurricular activities hindered their academic achievement, what examples did they list to support their beliefs?

5. For those students who individually participated in at least one extracurricular activity while in high school, what benefits did they list which resulted from participation in extracurricular activities?

6. For those students who did not participate in at least one extracurricular activity while in high school, what reasons were given for not participating?

7. What percentage of respondents did not participate in at least one extracurricular activity while in high school?

8. For those students who did not participate in extracurricular activities while in high school, what other activities (outside of school) were they involved in that helped prepare them for adult life?

## Sample and Population

The population of this field study included seniors of Flora High School. To avoid disruption and provide convenience, the principal suggested that the researcher choose two sections of Senior Political Science. This course was required for all seniors and the students were randomly scheduled. This allowed the researcher to personally administer the survey.

The researcher chose to survey the first two morning classes so there would be no time for student discussion or manipulation. The students received no advance notice. These two sections of classes accounted for a total of 40 seniors in the Class of 1994.

## Criterion Measure

The survey tool, as presented in Appendix A, was developed to elicit responses to research questions formulated for the study. The instrument was designed through the assistance of the researcher's faculty advisor, Dr. David Bartz. It was then approved for use by the principal of Flora High School, Mr. Harry Penry.

While the tool was developed to find actual numbers concerning

participation in extracurricular activities, it also was designed to allow freedom of responses for student opinions and beliefs.

#### Data Collection

After the survey instrument was approved by both the author's advisor and the principal of Flora High School, the researcher discussed the survey procedures with Mr. Penry. He suggested that the sample be obtained by surveying sections of a required senior class. The researcher chose the first two sections of Senior Political Science, and gained permission from Mr. Jim Baird to distribute the surveys to those two sections on May 17.

On that day, the researcher distributed the survey to the students, and instructed them to read the introductory paragraph of the survey. The researcher then made herself available for questions and circulated within the room for individual inquiries. The students had very few questions or verbal comments.

#### Data Analysis

The data were analyzed by using percentages and qualitative statements of the respondents. The qualitative statements were analyzed by denoting the frequency of commonality in statements and depicting the trend of the statements in a collective sense.

# Chapter IV

## Results

#### Introduction

The format for reporting the results first restates the research question and then presents the information from the criterion measure that answered it. A narrative provides a conclusion.

#### Results of Research Question #1

1. What percentage of respondents participated in at least one extracurricular activity while in high school?

Response Information

37/40 93%

Conclusion

This group of students actively participated in at least one extracurricular activity. Many of the respondents answered with a detailed list that included many activities.

# Results of Research Question #2

2. What percent of the students surveyed felt that extracurricular activities helped or hindered their academic achievement?

Response	Information	
Helped	27/40	68%
Hindered	1/40	3%

# Conclusion

Of the 37 students who had participated in extracurricular activities, 27 of those felt it had helped their academic performance. Only one felt that participation had hindered academic performance. The remaining nine students responded that participation neither helped nor hindered their academic performance.

# Results of Research Question #3

3. For those respondents who felt that involvement in extracurricular activities helped their academic achievement, what examples did they list to support their beliefs?

**Response Information** 

Examples of Extracurricular Activities and Benefits

Examples of Extracult fourth Activities and benefits		
Activity	Example	Responses
National Honor Society	Encouraged performance level	9
Scholastic Bowl	Acquisition of Knowledge	6
Yearbook and Locust Log	Writing and organizational skills	3
Japanese and Spanish Club	Learning culture and language	2
Sports	Created win attitude Physical fitness	2 1
General	Developed social relationships Time management skills Developed responsibility Developed cooperation Provided alternative activities from work Showed competitiveness of societ Developed work ethic	6 5 2 1 1 9 1 1 9 1

Table 1

#### Conclusion

The students responded in a variety of ways. Some students specified the extracurricular activity that developed a particular skill. Many of the students responded very generally by just listing the ways their involvement had helped them. Those who supplied information on this question seemed very eager to provide lots of information. The number of responses was in no way linked to the number of respondents. However, overall, the students provided a substantial list of the benefits derived from their participation in extracurricular activities while at Flora High School.

#### Results of Research Question #4

4. For those respondents who felt that participation in extracurricular activities hindered their academic achievement, what examples did they list to support their beliefs?

# Response Information

None

#### Conclusion

The respondents provided no reasons for their beliefs.

# Results of Research Question #5

5. For those students who individually participated in at least one extracurricular activity while in high school, what

benefits did they list which resulted from participation in extracurricular activities?

# Response Information

Table 2

Types of Benefits Derived from Participation

Benefits	Responses
Group cooperation for a common goal	17
Communication and social skills	11
Acceptance of responsibility	11
Time management	7
Self-discipline	6
Commitment	4
Self-confidence	4
Necessity of goal-setting	4
Decision making skills	3
Development of work ethic	3
Development of maturity	2
Leadership techniques	2
Acceptance of defeat	1
Money management	1
Organizational skills	1
Importance of physical preservation	1

# Conclusion

The students provided many and varied responses to this question. Again, the number of responses was unlimited so they

responded very freely. Many of the responses were similar to those supplied by Research Question #3. However, some benefits appeared that were not previously mentioned.

# Results of Research Question #6

6. For those students who did not participate in at least one extracurricular activity, what reasons were given for not participating?

Response Information

Table 3

Reasons for	Nonparticipation in Extracurricular Activit	ies
Activity	Example	Responses
General	Did not like people	1
	Did not want to	1
	No extra time, chose to study	1

# Conclusion

The respondents provided only one answer per student and it was very brief.

# Results of Research Question #7

7. What percentage of respondents did not participate in

at least one extracurricular activity while in high school?

# Response Information

3/40 8%

## Conclusion

A very small percentage of this sample chose not to participate in extracurricular activities while in high school.

## Results of Research Question #8

8. For those students who did not participate in extracurricular activities while in high school, what other activities (outside of school) were they involved in that helped prepare them for adult life?

Response Information

Type of response	Responses
None	2
Employment	1

Conclusion

Two of the three students responding to this question were involved in no other outside activities. One student did fill other time with employment.

# Statistical Results

# Response Information

Table 4

Statistical Results of Respondents

Respondent information	Responses	Grade point average
Respondents feeling that participation helped	27	4.21
Mean of participants	37	4.05
Mean of nonparticipants	3	3.91
Respondents feeling that participation did not help	10	3.62

# <u>Conclusion</u>

The mean of nonparticipants of extracurricular activities was slightly less than the mean of participants of extracurricular activities.

# Chapter V

Summary and Recommendations

#### Summary

The purpose of this study was to survey senior students of Flora High School in an effort to obtain their opinions concerning the effects of extracurricular participation on academic achievement. Students were asked to reveal involvement in various activities. Participants of extracurricular activities were asked to express beliefs concerning the benefits derived from participation.

The researcher hoped to collect data that would be helpful in determining the importance or lack of importance relating to the offering of extracurricular activities to students in Flora High School. As an administrator, the researcher hoped to validate the interest and expense of providing extracurricular activities or find support to eliminate the interest and expense of unnecessary educational provisions.

This particular group of students had a 93% participation rate in at least one extracurricular activity. Many of the respondents provided detailed lists of not only high school extracurricular activities but also activities of the community. Of the 37 participants of extracurricular activities, 27 perceived that participation had helped them attain academic achievement. The mean of their cumulative grade point average was 4.21. This

statistic was considerably higher than that of the ten respondents who did not feel that extracurricular participation had helped. These respondents had an average cumulative grade point average of 3.62. The entire group of 37 participants statistically accumulated a mean of 4.05. This mean was just slightly higher than the 3.91 grade point average of three nonparticipants. Quite interestingly, one of the three nonparticipants had a very high average of 4.86. Because the number of nonparticipants was limited, the statistic was not as representative as the researcher would have desired.

The one respondent expressed the belief that participation partially hindered academic achievement. The student created a new choice, "a little bit." He then commented that practicing a sport until 7:00 p.m. created less study time. Even this one student could not strongly point out a true detriment from his participation.

These results lead the researcher to believe that the statistical information and beliefs of the students concur. Their experiences in extracurricular activities do seem to at least be linked to academic success. Although the researcher considered no other intrapersonal factors, the study did reveal that those students who attained academic success were drawn to extracurricular activities and their participation was perceived by the students to help their achievement.

The respondents freely provided many examples of skills acquired through participation in extracurricular activities. The greatest frequency of commonality was linked to academic extracurricular activities. Scholastic Bowl and National Honor Society offered acquisition of knowledge and required performance levels. As the researcher expected, students expressed the importance of social relationships and time management skills. The 27 students who believed that participation in extracurricular activities had helped their academic achievement provided 40 support responses. The most meaningful responses linked specific extracurricular activities to definite examples of skill acquisition. Many responded generally because the example could be supplied by various organizations.

The study revealed a number of responses concerning individual benefits derived from participation in extracurricular activities. The most common response showed that students strongly benefited from group cooperation to achieve a common goal. This is a skill they have viewed as valuable as they are entering or preparing to enter the work force. Closely related, and also revealed as important, were communication and social skills and acceptance of responsibility. Tied in very closely were time management and self-discipline skills. Commitment, self-confidence, work ethic, goal-setting, and decision-making skills were also provided as strong benefits derived from participation.

In reviewing those responses of students who chose not to participate, the researcher found brief comments. Ironically, the one respondent with the cumulative grade point average of 4.86 did not give a response linked to the desire to study.

Of the three respondents who chose not to participate in high school activities, two of those also chose not to participate in any activities outside of the school. This leads the researcher to believe that students may enter high school with a predetermined attitude toward participation in extracurricular activities. As previous research has discussed, perhaps these students do not enter high school with the personal desire to become involved with people and extracurricular activities.

#### Recommendations

The interpretation of this data leads the researcher to conclude that the inclusion of extracurricular activities at Flora High School are a meaningful provision of the total educational curriculum. The senior students already possess awareness of the benefits they have perceived as derived from their participation. This research should lead administrators of Flora High School to accept the value of the investment in extracurricular activities.

Considering future recommendations, the administration of Flora High School should formally adopt a procedure to annually review not only attitudes and statistics concerning participation

in extracurricular activities, but also include an assessment of changing needs.

Staff members in all schools that currently provide extracurricular activities must surely believe that the availability of such activities is needed. However, each district must devote some attention to formulating an evaluative system to substantiate the perpetuation of extracurricular activities. While this research sought the beliefs of senior students, there is a possibility that former students could also provide valuable insight.

Although it would be quite intricate, the psychological aspects of need fulfillment through participation in extracurricular activities would be interesting to explore. The variety of extracurricular activities in many high schools leads us to believe that different competencies are sought for internal satisfaction. While these benefits are hard to measure and may not be statistically related to a cumulative grade point average, the need to consider them is necessary.

As revealed through the review of related literature, the variables are numerous and research is often not totally conclusive. But our students, especially high school teens, have needs that must be met in a changing society that forces adolescents to seek various attachments. As educators, our expertise is supported by our efforts to substantiate the purpose of all educational facets.

#### References

Banner, J. (1992). The parallel school. <u>Phi Delta Kappan</u>, <u>73</u>, 486-488.

Call, R. W. (1974). <u>A comparison of academic achievement and</u> <u>student involvement in extracurricular activity</u>. Fort Lauderdale, Florida: Nova University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 099 026).

- Camp, W. G. (1990). Participation in student activities: A co-variance structural analysis. Journal of Educational Research, 83, (5), 272-278.
- Coleman, J. S. (1961). <u>The adolescent society</u>. New York: Free Press.
- Eldsmore, R. M. (1964). High school athletes are brighter. Journal of Health, Physical Education and Recreation, <u>35</u>, 53-54.
- Feltz, D. L., & Weiss, M. R. (1984). The impact of girls' interscholastic sport participation on academic orientation. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 55, (4), 332-339.
- Fung, Y. & Wong, N. (1991). Involvement in extracurricular activities as related to academic performance, personality, and peer acceptance. <u>Chinese University Education Journal</u>, <u>19</u>, (2), 155-160.
- Griffin, S. (1988). Student activities in the middle school: What do they contribute? <u>National Association of Secondary School</u> Principals, 72, (507), 87-92.

- Hanks, M. P., & Eckland, B. K. (1976). Athletics and social participation in the educational attainment process. <u>Sociology</u> of Education, 49, 271-294.
- Harvanik, M. J. & Golson, G. (1986). Academic success and <u>participation in high school extracurricular activities:</u> Is there <u>a relationship?</u> Washington, D. C.: Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association.

(ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 273 887).

- Hauser, W. J., & Lueptow, L. B. (1978). Participation in athletics and academic achievement: a replication and extension. Sociological Quarterly, 10, 304-309.
- Lueptow, L. B., & Kayser, B. K. (1973-74). Athletic involvement, academic achievement, and aspiration. <u>Sociological Focus</u>, <u>7</u>, 24-26.
- Marano, R. (1985). Student activities. <u>National Association of</u> of Secondary School Principals, 69, (483), 1-2.
- Marsh, H. W. (1992). <u>What makes a difference during the last two</u> <u>years of high school: An overview of studies based on high</u> <u>school and beyond data</u>. San Francisco, California: 1992 Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 349 314).
- McCarthy, K. J. (1994). Activities a plus. <u>The American School</u> <u>Board Journal</u>. <u>4</u>, 8.
- McNamara, J. F. (1985). <u>The role of extracurricular activities in</u> <u>high school education: A chart essay on survey findings</u>.

College Station, Texas: Texas A & M University, College of

Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 268 712).

- Mendez, R. (1984). Extracurricular activities in today's school: Have we gone too far? <u>National Association of Secondary School</u> Principals, 68, (470), 60-64.
- Quinn, T. (1991). The influence of school policies and practices on dropout rates. <u>National Association of Secondary School</u> <u>Principals</u>, <u>75</u>, 73-82.
- Reun, E. (1992). Student activity programs enhance education experiences for nation's youth. <u>National Association of</u> Secondary School Principals, 76, 60-65.
- Schafer, W. E., & Armer, M. (1968). Athletes are not inferior students. <u>Trans-action</u>, <u>6</u>, 61.
- Schumaker, J. F., Small, L., & Wood, J. (1986). Self-concept, academic achievement, and athletic participation. <u>Perceptual</u> and Motor Skills, 62, 387-390.
- Simeroth, N. J. (1987). <u>The effects of participation in</u> <u>extracurricular activities on female adolescents' self-concept</u>. Anchorage, Alaska: University of Alaska.

(ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 307 511).

Steinberg, L. (1988). <u>Noninstructional influences on high school</u> <u>student achievement: The contribution of parents, peers,</u> <u>extracurricular activities, and part-time work</u>. Madison, Wisconsin: National Center on Effective Secondary Schools. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 307 509).

- Stevenson, C. (1975). Socialization effects of participation in sport: A critical review of the research. <u>Research Quarterly</u>, 46, (3), 287-301.
- Stoltz, D. F. (1986). Athletics and academic achievement: What is the relationship? <u>National Association of Secondary School</u> Principals, <u>70</u>, (492), 20-24.
- Tomlinson, T. (1992). <u>Hard work and high expectations</u>: <u>Motivating</u> <u>students to learn, issues in education</u>. Office of Educational Research and improvement of the U. S. Department of Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 345 871).

Appendix A Survey Tool

Please help me gain information for a study I am completing through Eastern Illinois University by completing the following questionnaire.

Name \_\_\_\_\_

Please list those extracurricular activities in which you have been involved while in high school.

 Do you feel involvement in school extracurricular activities has helped you achieve academically? (Perform better in your classes)

Yes \_\_\_\_\_ No \_\_\_\_\_

- A. If yes, list examples of how or why your participation helped your academic achievement in school.
- B. If no, did participation hinder your academic achievement?

Yes \_\_\_\_ No \_\_\_\_

If yes, explain how.

2. Assuming you participated in extracurricular activities, list as many benefits as you can of how you think participation may have helped you in preparation for adult life.

3. Assuming you did not participate in school extracurricular activities, why did you chose not to participate?

- 4. If you did not participate in school extracurricular activities, did you participate in other activities that helped you prepare for adult life?
  - Yes No
  - A. If yes, please describe activities and why you chose those activities instead of school extracurricular activities.